IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 17-2093

---

UE LOCAL 893/IUP,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,

Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE MICHAEL D. HUPPERT, JUDGE

---

**APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**JEFFREY S. THOMPSON**  
Solicitor General  
Jeffrey.thompson@ag.iowa.gov

Iowa Attorney General's Office  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5166  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### **I. The District Court Did Not Have Subject Matter Jurisdiction**

*Norton v. Adair County*, 441 N.W.2d 347 (Iowa 1989)

Iowa Code section 20.17(5)

Iowa Code § 20.6(5)

621 IAC 6.4(2) & (3)

Iowa administrative code section 6.4(2)

Iowa administrative code sections 6.4(3)

Iowa Code chapter 20

### **II. UE Failed to Exhaust Administrative Remedies**

*Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority v. Young*, 867  
N.W.2d 839 (Iowa 2015)

*Ghost Player, L.L.C. v. State*, 860 N.W.2d 323 (Iowa 2015)

*Harrison v. State*, No. 08-0384, 2008 WL 5412265 (Iowa Ct.  
App. Dec. 31, 2008)

*Keokuk County v. H.B.*, 593 N.W.2d 118 (Iowa 1999)

*Maquoketa Valley Community Sch. Dist. V. Maquoketa Valley  
Ed. Ass'n.*, 279 N.W.2d 510 (Iowa 1979)

*Pro Farmer Grain v. Iowa Dep't of, Ag.*, 427 N.W.2d 466 (Iowa  
1988)

*Regional Retirement Living, Inc. v. Board of Review of  
Wapello County*, 611 N.W.2d 779 (Iowa 2000)

*Ritz v. Wappello County Bd. Of Supervisors*, 595 N.W.2d 786  
(Iowa 1999)

*Shors v. Johnson*, 581 N.W.2d 648 (Iowa 1998)

*Sioux City Police Officer's Ass'n v. City of Sioux City*, 495  
N.W.2d 687 (Iowa 1993)

Iowa Code § 20.1

Iowa Code § 20.10

Iowa Code § 20.11(1)

Iowa Code § 20.11(5)

621 IAC 6.4(2) & (3)

Iowa Code chapter 17A

Iowa Code chapter 20

### **III. In the Alternative, the District Court erred in not Deferring the case under Primary Jurisdiction**

*Capitol-Husting Co., Inc. v. NLRB*, 671 F.2d 237 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1982)  
*City of Waukeee v. City Dev. Bd.*, 514 N.W.2d 83 (Iowa 1994)  
*Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority*, 867 N.W.2d  
*Freeman v. Grain Processing Corp.*, 848 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2014)  
*Ivaldi v. NLRB*, 48 F.3d 444 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995)  
*Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullins*, 455 U.S. 72 (1982)  
*Maghee v. State*, 773 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 2009)  
*Marquez v. Screen Actors Guild, Inc.*, 525 U.S. 33 (1998)  
*Moravia Cmty Sch. Dist. v. Moravia Educ. Ass'n*, 460 N.W.2d 172 (Iowa Ct. App. 1990)  
*NLRB v. Boston Dist. Council of Carpenters*, 80 F.3d 662 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 1996)  
*Pepsi-Cola Bottling Co. of Mason City, Iowa v. NLRB*, 659 F.2d 87 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981)  
*Ritz v. Wappello County Bd. Of Supervisors*, 595 N.W.2d 786, 789 (Iowa 1999)  
*Rowen v. LeMars Mut. Ins. Co. of Iowa*, 230 N.W.2d 905 (Iowa 1975)  
*State ex rel. Miller v. DeCoster*, 608 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2000)  
*Teamsters Local Union No. 688 v. NLRB*, 756 F.2d 659 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985)  
*Williamhouse Regency of Delaware v. NLRB*, 915 F.2d 631 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990)  
Iowa Code § 20.1(2)(b)  
Iowa Code § 20.10  
Iowa Code § 20.10(2)(e)  
Iowa Code chapter 20  
Iowa Code § 20.11(1)  
2 Am. Jur. 2d Administrative Law, at § 480  
22 Federal Procedure Lawyers Edition, at § 52:363 (2012)

### **IV. The District Court Applied an Improper Legal Standard to Determine Contract Formation**

*Blackford v. Prairie Meadows Racetrack and Casino*, 778 N.W.2d 184 (Iowa 2010)



*Baker v. Johnson County*, 37 Iowa 186 (1873)  
*Beaumont v. Prieto*, 249 U.S. 554 (1919)  
*Flanagan v. Consolidated Nutrition, L.C.*, 627 N.W.2d 573  
(Iowa Cit. App. 2001)  
*Freeman v. Grain Processing Corp.*, 848 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa  
2015)  
*Heartland Express, Inc. v. Terry*, 631 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2001)  
*Local Lodge No. 1426 v. Wilson Trailer Co. of Sioux City*, 289  
N.W.2d 608 (Iowa 1980)  
*Pepsi-Cola Bottling Company of Mason City, Iowa v. NLRB*,  
659 F.2d 87 (8th Cir. 1981)  
*State v. Short*, 851 N.W.2d 474 (Iowa 2014)  
*Tralon Corp. v. Cederapids, Inc.*, 966 F. Supp. 812 (N.D. Iowa  
1997)  
1 Williston on Contracts § 5:3  
10 Emp. Coord. Labor Relations § 37:43  
HF 291  
Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 50  
Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 59  
SF 213  
2017 Iowa Acts ch. 2, § 26  
Iowa Code chapter 20

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be retained by the Supreme Court because it presents substantial issues of first impression and presents fundamental issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 21, 2017, UE Local 893/IUP (hereinafter “UE”) filed a petition in Polk County district court seeking to enforce the terms of the alleged collective bargaining agreement. *See* Petition p.1-5 (App. at 5-9). The State of Iowa (hereinafter “the State”) filed a pre-answer motion to dismiss, arguing the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because (1) the State did not ratify UE’s proposed collective bargaining agreement to complete the final prerequisite to form a binding collective bargaining agreement under Iowa Administrative Rule 621–6.4(3); and (2) UE did not exhaust its administrative remedies because the prohibited practices complaint (“PPC”) filed with the Iowa Public Employment Relations Board (“PERB”) to order the State to ratify UE’s proposed agreement to form a binding collective bargaining agreement was not exhausted;

and in the alternative, (3) that the district court should defer to PERB under primary jurisdiction. Motion to Dismiss p.1-3 (App. at 40-42); Def.'s Br. in Support of Motion to Dismiss p.3-13 (App. at 45-55). The district court denied the State's motion to dismiss. Ruling on Def.'s Motion to Dismiss p. 1-4 (App. at 60-63). Thereafter, under stipulated set of facts, the State filed a motion for summary judgment and UE filed its own cross-motion for summary judgment. In its motion for summary judgment, the State argued (1) primary jurisdiction applied, (2) traditional common-law principles of contract should apply in the collective bargaining context to hold that there was no formation of contract, and (3) even if the *Pepsi-Cola* standard is applied, under the facts of this case, there was no formation of contract. Motion for Summ. J. p. 1-3 (App. at 69-71); Def.'s Memo. of Authorities in Support of Summ. J., or in the alternative, Motion to Stay p. 1-20 (App. at 72-91).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The facts, for the most part, are not contested. The applicable stipulated facts are as follows:

- UE and the State were parties to collective bargaining agreements which were effective July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2017. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 7 (App. at 66).
- In preparation for the negotiations for the successor collective bargaining agreement, in May 2016, UE and the State agreed to a 2017-2019 Negotiation Calendar. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 8 (App. at 66).
- UE made an initial bargaining position for a successor collective bargaining agreement to the State of Iowa pursuant to Iowa Code Section 20.17(3) on December 6, 2016. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 9 (App. at 66).
- The State made its initial bargaining position to UE pursuant to Iowa Code Section 20.17(3) on December 20, 2016. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 10 (App. at 66).
- On January 10, 2017 UE and the State met for a negotiation session. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 11 (App. at 66).
- The January 10, 2017 bargaining session began with UE asking questions about the State's initial bargaining position. The State did not deviate from its initial bargaining position as it was waiting to see whether the Iowa Legislature

intended to amend chapter 20 and UE did not deviate from its initial bargaining position as it required more details regarding the State's insurance proposal. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 12 (App. at 66).

- UE and the State agreed to cancel bargaining sessions previously scheduled for January 11, 18, and 19. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 13 (App. at 67).
- At no time prior to and during the January 10, 2017 bargaining session did UE accept the State's initial bargaining position. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 14 (App. at 67).
- The State at no time prior to February 10, 2017 withdrew its initial bargaining position. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 15 (App. at 67).
- On February 10, 2017, UE informed the State that their Negotiation Committee had unanimously voted to accept the State's December 20, 2016 initial proposal. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 16 (App. at 67).
- On February 14, 2017, UE's members voted unanimously to ratify the State's December 20, 2016 initial proposal. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 17 (App. at 67).

- At no time prior to ratification by UE on February 14, 2017 of the State’s December 20, 2016 initial proposal did the State withdraw its December 20, 2016 initial proposal. Stipulation of Facts ¶ 18 (App. at 67).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The District Court Did Not Have Subject Matter Jurisdiction**

The district court did not have subject matter jurisdiction in this case. Iowa Code chapter 20 is the comprehensive statute that regulates public employer bargaining. UE filed a petition under Iowa Code section 20.17(5) to enforce the terms of the alleged collective bargaining agreement. *See* Petition p. 4, ¶ 25 (App. at 8). However, section 20.17(5), the basis of the district court’s jurisdiction is limited to enforcement of the terms of a collective bargaining agreement. The statutory provision provides, “*terms* of any collective bargaining agreement may be enforced by a civil action in the district court of the county in which the agreement was made upon the initiative of either party.” Iowa Code § 20.17(5) (emphasis added). That is, when there is a collective bargaining agreement and a dispute arises as to a *term* within the agreement, a civil action may be filed in district court to enforce the term.

The plain language of the statute, however, makes clear that Iowa Code section 20.17(5) does not extend jurisdiction to the district court to determine whether a collective bargaining agreement exists in the first instance. *See generally Norton v. Adair County*, 441 N.W.2d 347, 354 (Iowa 1989) (stating section 20.17(5) is an enforcement provision of the terms of the collective bargaining agreement). Rather, Iowa Code chapter 20 provides PERB with rulemaking authority to determine whether a collective bargaining agreement exists. *See* Iowa Code § 20.6(5). The Iowa Administrative Code sections 6.4(2) and 6.4(3) specifies the process for an employee organization to ratify or reject a tentative agreement and the process for a public employer to accept or reject it. 621 IAC 6.4(2) & (3). Here, it is undisputed that after UE ratified the State's December 20, 2016 initial proposal, the State did not accept the agreement under Iowa Administrative Code section 6.4(3). Accordingly, there was no ratified and valid collective bargaining agreement. *See* 621 IAC 6.4(3). Thus, the district court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to enforce any term of a collective bargaining agreement under Iowa Code section 20.17(5) because there were no terms of a ratified collective bargaining agreement for the district court to

enforce. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss the case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

## **II. UE Failed to Exhaust Administrative Remedies**

The standard of review for ruling on motions to dismiss is for correction of legal errors. *Ritz v. Wappello County Bd. of Supervisors*, 595 N.W.2d 786, 789 (Iowa 1999). The State preserved error. See Def.'s Motion to Dismiss p.1-3 (App. at 40-42); Def.'s Br. in Support of Motion to Dismiss p. 1-2, 7-9 (App. at 43-44, 49-51). Here, the district court erred by not dismissing the case on failure to exhaust administrative remedies.

The district court erred when it denied the State's motion to dismiss on the basis of UE's failure to exhaust administrative remedies. In Iowa, "[i]t is well established that a party must exhaust any available administrative remedy before seeking relief in the courts [and a] plaintiff's failure to exhaust an administrative remedy deprives the district court of jurisdiction of the case." *Shors v. Johnson*, 581 N.W.2d 648, 650 (Iowa 1998) (citation omitted). The Iowa Supreme Court explained that "[t]he exhaustion of remedies requirement is a highly utilitarian principle of administrative law both as an expression of administrative autonomy and a rule of sound



judicial administration.” *Pro Farmer Grain v. Iowa Dep’t of Ag.*, 427 N.W.2d 466, 469 (Iowa 1988). If the “agency has been legislatively created as an entity vested with its own powers and duties . . . [i]t should be free to work out its own problems, and the courts should not interfere with its work until the agency has completed its task.” *Id.*

Here, the legislature delegated to PERB the authority to determine whether a public employer or employee organization committed a prohibited practice. Iowa Code § 20.11(1) (providing that proceedings alleging a prohibited practice “*shall* be commenced by filing a complaint” with PERB) (emphasis added); *see also Maquoketa Valley Community Sch. Dist. v. Maquoketa Valley Ed. Ass’n.*, 279 N.W.2d 510, 512 (Iowa 1979) (PERB was legislatively delegated the role of supervising bargaining); *Sioux City Police Officer’s Ass’n v. City of Sioux City*, 495 N.W.2d 687, 692 (Iowa 1993) (observing PERB “generally has exclusive jurisdiction to determine negotiability issues under Iowa Code chapter 20” and that “[i]t is appropriate for an agency in the first instance to interpret the statute it administers”); *Harrison v. State*, No. 08-0384, 2008 WL 5412265, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 31, 2008) (“[T]he legislature created [PERB]

‘to implement the provisions of [chapter 20] and adjudicate and conciliate employment-related cases involving the state of Iowa and other public employers and employee organizations.’” (quoting Iowa Code § 20.1)). The legislature defined “prohibited practice” to include failures on the part of a public employer or employee organization to collectively bargain and to engage in the impasse procedures. Iowa Code § 20.10. Therefore, PERB possesses the authority and statutory duty to determine whether the parties bargained to the completion of a fully-ratified agreement under the administrative rules. *See* 621 IAC 6.4(2) & (3) (stating the process for an employee organization and a public employer to accept or reject a tentative agreement). UE’s contention that the agreement was binding on the parties despite a lack of final acceptance by the public employer directly implicates the application and interpretation of PERB’s administrative rules.

It is undisputed that UE filed a PPC against the State seeking PERB to order the State, in part, to “ratify [the] proposal as accepted by UE Local 893/IUP.” Def.’s Motion to Dismiss Ex. 1 (App. at 57). UE’s PPC, which was filed prior to this instant lawsuit, has not been resolved. After the PPC’s resolution by PERB, UE will have judicial

recourse from PERB's final action. *See* Iowa Code § 20.11(5) (providing review of PERB's final decision is governed by chapter 17A). Because an adequate administrative remedy exists and because the governing statute requires exhaustion before permitting judicial review, UE had to first exhaust its administrative remedies. *Regional Retirement Living, Inc. v. Board of Review of Wapello County*, 611 N.W.2d 779, 781 (Iowa 2000).

The requirement for UE to first exhaust its administrative remedies is especially heightened in this instance as it provides PERB the initial opportunity to construe and interpret its own rules on a fundamental issue as contract formation. *See, e.g., Des Moines Area Regional Transit Authority v. Young*, 867 N.W.2d 839, 842 (Iowa 2015) (stating “[w]e give an agency substantial deference when it interprets its own regulations”). Here, given that UE did not exhaust its administrative remedies, the district court had no jurisdiction to hear the case. “When a party fails to exhaust all of its required administrative remedies, the court has no authority to hear the case, and if a party properly raises the challenge, the court *must* dismiss the case.” *Ghost Player, L.L.C. v. State*, 860 N.W.2d 323, 326 (Iowa 2015) (citing *Keokuk County v. H.B.*, 593 N.W.2d 118, 123 (Iowa

1999)) (emphasis added). Accordingly, the district court erred when it failed to dismiss the action for UE's failure to exhaustion administrative remedies.

**III. In the Alternative, the District Court erred in not Deferring the case under Primary Jurisdiction**

The standard of review for ruling on motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment is for correction of legal errors. *Ritz*, 595 N.W.2d at 789; *Freeman v. Grain Processing Corp.*, 848 N.W.2d 58, 65 (Iowa 2014). The State preserved error. See Motion to Dismiss p.1-3 (App. at 40-42); Def.'s Br. in Support of Motion to Dismiss p.1-2, 9-13 (App. at 43-44, 51-55); Motion for Summ. J. p. 1-2 (App. at 69-70); Def.'s Memo. of Authorities in Support of Summ. J., or in the alternative, Motion to Stay p. 1-2, 5-10 (App. at 72-73, 76-81). Here, the district court erred by not deferring the case under primary jurisdiction.

If the Court finds the district court had jurisdiction, the district court erred when it did not defer the case to PERB under the doctrine of primary jurisdiction. Under the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, a court may decline to determine a controversy that involves a question that is within the jurisdiction of an administrative tribunal or agency. *State ex rel. Miller v. DeCoster*, 608 N.W.2d 785, 791 (Iowa 2000)

(citations omitted). The doctrine of primary jurisdiction applies where a claim can originally be addressed in a court but would be better addressed first by an administrative body. That is, “[w]hen the legislature has not delegated jurisdiction of the controversy to an agency but the controversy . . . implicates issues requiring the exercise of administrative discretion, the doctrine of primary jurisdiction is applicable.” *Rowen v. LeMars Mut. Ins. Co. of Iowa*, 230 N.W.2d 905, 909 (Iowa 1975). It applies to claims that contain some issue within the special competence of an administrative agency. Thus, under the primary jurisdiction doctrine, courts will defer ruling on a controversy involving a question within the jurisdiction of an administrative tribunal until after that tribunal has rendered its decision. *See City of Waukee v. City Dev. Bd.*, 514 N.W.2d 83, 90 (Iowa 1994) (refraining from resolving dispute under the doctrine of primary jurisdiction because the issues fell within the jurisdiction of an agency); 2 Am. Jur. 2d Administrative Law, at § 480.

Here, PERB, as the tribunal with initial authority under section 20.10, should determine what principles should govern offer and acceptance in collective bargaining given its subject-matter expertise and the need for uniformity which will govern all public employers

bargaining in Iowa. *See Moravia Cmty Sch. Dist. v. Moravia Educ. Ass'n*, 460 N.W.2d 172, 177 (Iowa Ct. App. 1990) (stating PERB has authority over supervision of bargaining). In fact, as noted above, UE affirmatively invoked PERB's authority over the parties' bargaining by filing a PPC with PERB claiming the State committed a prohibited practice in violation of section 20.10(2)(e) by refusing to negotiate collectively with UE. Motion to Dismiss Ex. 1 (App. at 57). The issues implicated in this case overlap with the very issues contained in both UE's and the State's pending PPCs on file with PERB, the administrative tribunal with primary jurisdiction over the PPCs. *See* Iowa Code § 20.1(2)(b) (providing PERB possesses the statutory obligation to "[a]djudicat[e] prohibited practice complaints"); Iowa Code § 20.11(1) (providing prohibited practice complaints must be commenced through a PERB filing); *see also Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullins*, 455 U.S. 72, 83 (1982) (holding that the NLRB "is vested with primary jurisdiction to determine what is or is not an unfair labor practice"); Francis M. Dougherty, et al., 22 Federal Procedure Lawyers Edition, at § 52:363 (2012) (stating "[b]ecause the [NLRB] is the sole protector of the national interest in the field of labor-management relations, any action which clearly or arguably involve

the rights of employees to organize or unfair labor practices are exclusively within the NLRB's competence, and federal courts must defer to the jurisdiction the NLRB exercises"). As noted above, there is no dispute that UE filed a PPC against the State with PERB, raising the same facts and arguments as contained within its Petition. *Compare* Motion to Dismiss Ex. 1 (App. at 57) *with* Petition p. 2-5 (App. at 6-9).

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