IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 17-2093

UE LOCAL, 893/IUP

Plaintiff-Appellee, vs.

STATE OF IOWA,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL D. HUPPERT

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL SUBMISSION

Mr. Charles Gribble
Mr. Christopher Stewart
PARRISH KRUIDENIER DUNN
BOLES GRIBBLE GENTRY
BROWN
& BERGMANN, L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
TELEPHONE:(515) 284-5737
FACSIMILE:(515) 284-1704
cgribble@parrishlaw.com
cstewart@parrishlaw.com

Mr. Nathan Willems
RUSH & NICHOLSON
115 1ST Ave SE Ste. 201
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52401
TELEPHONE:(319)-363-5209
FACSIMILE:(319)-363-6664
nate@rushnicholson.com

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

See Chauffeurs, Teamsters and Helpers, Local Union No. 238 vs. Fayette County, No. PERB 5673, 1998 WL 35275874 (Jan. 20, 1998) (finding that the County violated its good faith statutory duty to bargain and forcing the County and Union to bargain a collective bargaining agreement as required by law); see also General Drivers & Helpers' Union, Local 421 v. City of Epworth, No. PERB 4826, 1993 WL 13651448 (Oct. 18, 1993) (finding that the City of Epworth had partaken in badfaith bargaining and proper remedy was to order "the City of Epworth shall cease and desist from any continuing or future interference with, restraint or coercion of public employees in the exercise of rights granted by the Public Employment Relations Act.").

Since "PERB cannot provide an adequate remedy for the issues raised by plaintiffs" UE is "correct in invoking the district court jurisdiction initially." *City of Sioux City*, 495 N.W.2d 693.

In looking at the second element for exhaustion of administrative remedies, Iowa Code Chapter 20 explicitly outlines that the "[t]erms of any collective bargaining agreement may be enforced by a civil action in the district court of the county in which the agreement was made upon the initiative of either party." Iowa

Code section 20.17(5). There is no mention of such administrative exhaustion in Iowa Code Chapter 20.

Therefore, based on the fact that PERB cannot provide an adequate administrative remedy and Iowa Code Chapter 20 specifically outlines the requirement that the" terms of any collective bargaining agreement may be enforced by a civil action in the district court," UE did not have to exhaust administrative remedies and the District Court was the proper forum to hear this matter.

II. APPLICATION OF APPLICABLE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING PRINCPLES ESTABLISHES THAT A COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT IS IN EFFECT BETWEEN THE STATE AND UE AND SHOULD BE ENFORCED.

Under either the application of federal collective bargaining principles or the ordinary contract principles, a collective bargaining agreement was formed between UE and the State of Iowa.

The standard of review for summary judgment cases is well settled. "We review summary judgment motions for correction of errors at law." *Carr*, 546 N.W.2d 903. Summary judgment is appropriate only when the entire record demonstrates that no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* Iowa Appellate Courts review the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Mason*, 700 N.W.2d 353.

A. Federal Law

Collective bargaining agreements in Iowa are enforced through an action filed pursuant to Iowa Code Section 20.17(5). *AFSCME Council 61 v. State of Iowa*, 484 N.W.2d 390 (Iowa 1992). There is no equivalent provision in federal law than to Iowa Code Section 20.17(5). As a result, the State's claim that enforcement questions should start with PERB rather than the NRLB is not applicable to the enforcement of Iowa public sector contracts. However, the statutory duty to bargain in good faith provisions under Federal and Iowa Laws are nearly identical. In comparing section 8(a)5 and 8(d) of the National Labor Relations Act, the section outlining the "obligation to negotiate in good faith" with the same obligation under the Iowa Public Employment Relations Act, Iowa Code Section 20.9, the section outlining the "obligation to negotiate in good faith" in Iowa, the rules are near reflections:

Federal Duty to Bargain in Good Faith

"For the purposes of this section, to bargain collectively is the performance of the mutual obligation of the employer and the representative of the employees to meet at reasonable times and confer in good faith with respect to wages"

Section 8(d) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. 158(d)(1976)

Iowa Code Chapter 20 Duty to Bargain in Good Faith-

"The public employer and the employee organization shall meet at reasonable times, including meetings reasonably in advance of the public employer's budget-making process, to negotiate in good faith with respect to wages."

Contracts under the National Labor Relations Act result from either voluntary agreement either at the bargaining table or following a strike. U.S.C. §158 (d). In Iowa, collective bargaining agreements result from either voluntary agreement, under Iowa Code Section 20.17(4) or an arbitrator's award on the disputed terms, under Iowa Code Section 20.22(10).

The Iowa Supreme Court has looked to and adopted federal case law principles in the *interpretation* of collective bargaining agreements. In *Sergeant Bluff-Luton Education Association v. Sergeant Bluff Luton Community School Dist.*, the association sought to enforce an arbitrator's award interpreting the terms of a collective agreement. 282 N.W.2d 144, 145-146 (Iowa 1979). The Court had before it not a question of contraction formation but rather the question of whether to enforce the terms of a collective bargaining agreement following the decision by the grievance arbitrator. *Id.* at 146. The Court adopted federal case law principles in holding that a collective bargaining agreement is much different than an ordinary contract.

The "essence" of a collective bargaining agreement is an extremely broad concept. It requires a casting aside of traditional views of contract law in favor of a multitude of other considerations, including not only the written and unwritten agreements, themselves, but also the practices of the parties or the industry in general.

Id. at 150 (citing John Wiley & Sons, Inc. v. Livingston, 376 U.S. 543, 84 (1964)).

With Sergeant Bluff-Luton Education Association in mind, the seminal case explaining the formation of employment law contracts in the federal realm and one which has been consistently followed is Pepsi-Cola Bottling Co. of Mason City, Iowa v. National Labor Relations Bd., 659 F.2d 87 (8th Cir. 1981).

In Pepsi-Cola Bottling Co. of Mason City, Iowa v. National Labor Relations

Board the Court stated:

This case presents an important issue of first impression for this court in the labor relations field: whether in negotiating a collective bargaining contract an unconditional offer remains open to acceptance after the other party has rejected the offer or submitted a counter proposal.

Id. at 90.

Pepsi-Cola provides a framework for how the Courts look at the formation of collective bargaining agreements and how they differ from ordinary contracts. In Pepsi-Cola, the union had both rejected the company's offer and made a counter proposal. *Id.* at 88.

The *Pepsi-Cola* Court relied on the same principles relied on by the Court in *Sergeant Bluff-Luton Education Association* in explaining that collective bargaining agreements are not like ordinary contracts:

The company first asserts that traditional principles of contract law govern the formation of collective bargaining agreements and, therefore, that the union's unequivocal rejection of the company's proposal terminated the July 12th offer. We disagree. The rule has well established that technical rules of contract do not control whether a collective bargaining agreement has been reached.

Pepsi-Cola, 659 F.2d 89 (citing John Wiley, 376 U.S. at 550).

In explaining the difference, the Court stated:

The National Labor Relations Act compels the employer and the duly certified union to deal with each other and to bargain in good faith. Upon rejection of an offer, the offeror may not seek another contracting party. As explained by the Supreme Court, "the choice is generally not between entering or refusing to enter into a relationship, for that in all probability preexists the negotiations." *Pepsi-Cola Bottling* at 89 citing *United Steel Workers of America v. Warrior and Golf Navigation Company*, 363 U.S. 574, 580.

Thus, the common law rule that a rejection or counter proposal necessarily terminates the offer has little relevance in the collective bargaining setting.

Pepsi-Cola, 659 F.2d at 89.

The same is true in the public-sector bargaining in Iowa. A contract is going to result either through voluntary agreement (Iowa Code Section 20.17(4)) or an arbitrator's award on the unresolved terms (Iowa Code Section 20.22(10)).

The Eighth Circuit determined:

A contract offer is not automatically terminated by the other party's rejection or counter proposal, but may be accepted within a reasonable time unless it was expressly withdrawn prior to acceptance, was expressly made contingent upon some condition subsequent, or was subject to intervening circumstances which made it unfair to hold the offeror to its bargain.

Pepsi-Cola, 659 F.2d 88.

In *Pepsi-Cola*, the Court further rejected arguments that the offer, once made, had to be immediately accepted (not accepted until three weeks later), was rendered

void by a counter offer, or that changed circumstances were sufficient to nullify the offer. *Id.* at 90.

Multiple other federal circuits have ruled similarly to that of the Eight Circuit in *Pepsi-Cola*. In *National Labor Relations Board v. Boston Dist. Council of Carpenters*, the First Circuit Court of Appeals held "in the collective bargaining context, an offer will remain on the table unless the offeror explicitly withdraws it or unless circumstances arise that would lead the parties to reasonably believe the offeror has withdrawn the offer." 80 F.3d 661, 665 (1st Cir 1996). The Court in *Williamhouse-Regency of Delaware, Inc. v. National Labor Relations Bd.*, held that a collective bargaining offer may be accepted at any time unless it was expressly withdrawn. 915 F.2d 631, 635 (11th Cir. 1990).

In lieu thereof, in the instant case, the parties have stipulated to facts establishing that the State's offer of December 20th was accepted by the bargaining team for UE on February 10th and ratified by the members of UE on February 14, 2017. (App. 67). This fulfils all the statutory obligations for contract formation pursuant to Iowa Code Section 20.17(4).

The State's claim in their brief that they were "waiting to see whether the Iowa legislature intended to amend Chapter 20" is insufficient to have somehow placed UE on notice that the State's December 20th offer was somehow withdrawn.

Here, the State admits in a stipulation of facts, that is never withdrew its offer prior to ratification. (App. 67). A claim that the State was uncertain if or what action the Iowa legislature would take with respect to the amendment of Chapter 20 certainly is insufficient to be equivalent to a withdraw of an offer as the District Court so found. (App. 116).

In an advice memo, NRLB associate general counsel advised that an employer's letter to the union stating that it "no longer intended 'final' offer to be on the table" meant that the union "could not in good faith believe" that the offer was available to be accepted. Diaz, Harold J., NLRB Associate General Counsel, Division of Advice, Case No. 19-CA-19160, 1988 WL 228506 (Feb. 4, 1988).

The Ninth Circuit held that circumstances did not support a reasonable belief that the employers offer had been withdraw despite the union presenting two counter proposals, followed by a complete breakdown of negotiations and a strike. *Presto Casting Company v. NRLB*, 708 F.2d 495, 497-98 (9th Cir. 1983).

Thus, the only means by which the State could have withdrawn its December 20th offer was by specifically informing UE that its offer of December 20th was withdrawn. Therefore, due to the actions of UE and their acceptance of the State's December 20th offer, there is a binding collective bargaining agreement in place between the parties.

B. State Law

If the court does not apply the federal standard of collective bargaining agreements, the application of traditional contract law principles establishes that a collective bargaining agreement was reached between UE and the State.

In the instant case, there was neither a counter proposal, nor a rejection of the employer's proposal. (App. 66). With that in mind, an application of traditional contract law principles results in an agreement. In Iowa, Courts generally rely on traditional notions of contract law found under the Restatement (Second) of Contracts and have adopted the Restatement's position on numerous occasions. *See, e.g., Johnson v. Assoc. Milk Producers, Inc.*, 886 N.W.2d 384, 390 n.2 (Iowa 2016); *Shelby Cty. Cookers, L.L.C. v. Util. Consult. Intern., Inc.*, 857 N.W.2d 186, 191 (Iowa 2014); *Midwest Dredging Co. v. McAninch Corp.*, 424 N.W.2d 216, 224 (Iowa 1988).

Further, Iowa Courts have concluded a contract is formed where there is offer, acceptance, and consideration. In order to be bound by a contract, "the contracting parties must manifest a mutual assent to the terms of the contract, and this assent usually is given through the offer and acceptance." *Kristerin Dev. Co. v. Granson Investment*, 394 N.W.2d 325, 331 (Iowa 1986); *see also Hayne v. Cook*, 109 N.W.2d 188, 192 (Iowa 1961). An offer is a "manifestation of willingness to enter into a bargain, so made as to justify another person in understanding that his assent to that

bargain is invited and will conclude it." Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 24 (1981); Anderson v. Douglas & Lomason Co., 540 N.W.2d 277, 285 (Iowa 1995). Iowa Courts also look at the existence of an offer objectively, not subjectively. Anderson v. Douglas & Lomason Co., 540 N.W.2d 277, 285 (Iowa 1995). The test for an offer is whether it induces a reasonable belief in the recipient that he or she can, by accepting, bind the sender. Id. at 286. If an offer is not definite, there is no intent to be bound. Id.

A counter-offer terminates an offer and establishes a new offer. Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 36. However, the undisputed facts of both parties and the case law refute any notation that a counter offer was made by State and the District Court properly so concluded. (App. 115-116).

The legally accepted definition of a counter offer establishes that no counter offer was made. A counter-offer "concerns the same matter as the original offer, but proposes "a substituted bargain differing from that proposed by the original offer." *Washington v. State*, 697 N.W.2d 127, N.3 (Iowa 2005) (citing Restatement (Second) of Contracts, § 39(1)).

Likewise, any inquiry or question regarding the State's proposal did not constitute a counter offer.

A mere inquiry regarding the possibility of different terms, a request for a better offer, or a comment upon the terms of the offer, is ordinarily not a counter-offer. Such responses to an offer may be too tentative or indefinite to be offers of any kind; or they may deal with new matters rather than a substitution for the original offer; or their language may manifest an intention to keep the original offer under consideration.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 39 cmt. b.

"A mere inquiry about different or better terms does not necessarily amount to a counter offer." *Great Lakes Comm. Corp.*, 124 F. Supp. 3d. 824, 849–51(N.D. Iowa 2005) In *Great Lakes Comm. Corp.*, Judge Bennett concluded that inquiries about the possibility of better terms did not make a counter offer. *Id.* at 50.

Therefore, if the Court declines to adopt the federal principles applicable to the formation of collective bargaining agreements, under the traditional principles of contract law, a collective bargaining agreement was made and is in force between UE and the State based upon offer and acceptance.

III. THE IOWA PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD CANNOT BY RULE ADD AN ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENT FOR COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT FORMATION NOT SET FORTH BY STATUTE.

There is a question as to whether the State has preserved error as to the application of PERB Rule 621-6.4(3). Counsel for the State, prior to Jeff Thompson, informed counsel for UE that the argument had been withdrawn. Further, this argument was not raised in the State's Motion for Summary Judgment, nor on a Motion to Enlarge, Amend or Reconsider the District Court's findings.

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